#### Case No. S219567

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# CHERRITY WHEATHERFORD,

Plaintiff/Appellant/Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

DEC 9 - 2014

CITY OF SANTA RAFAEL, et al.,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Defendants/Respondents.

Deputy

#### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

On Review of the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, First District, Division One, *Wheatherford v. City of San Rafael* (May 22, 2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 460 [Petition for Rehearing Denied June 16, 2012]

Appellate Case No. A138949

# INTRODUCTION

The taxpayer standing statute, Code of Civil Procedure section 526a (section 526a) provides in relevant part:

An action to obtain a judgment, restraining and preventing any illegal expenditure of, waste of, or injury to, the estate, funds, or other property of a county, town, city or city and county of the state, may be maintained against any officer thereof, or any agent, or other person, acting in its behalf, either by a citizen resident therein, or by a corporation, who is assessed for and is liable to pay, or, within one year before the commencement of the action, has paid, a tax therein. ....

The "primary purpose" of this statute, originally enacted in 1909, is to "enable a large body of the citizenry to challenge governmental action which would otherwise go unchallenged in the courts because of the [direct] standing requirement." (*Van Atta v. Scott* (1980) 27 Cal. 3d 424, 447 (*Van Atta*), quoting *Blair v. Ptichess* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 258, 267-268 (*Blair*).) The statute provides "a general citizen remedy for controlling illegal governmental activity." (*White v. Davis* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 757, 763 (*White*); *Van Atta, supra,* 27 Cal. 3d 424, 447.) "To achieve the 'socially therapeutic purpose' of section 526a, 'provision must be made for a broad basis of relief. Otherwise, the perpetration of public wrongs would continue almost unhampered." (*Van Atta, supra*, at p. 450.)

Here, the question whether plaintiff, appellant and petitioner Cherrity Wheatherford has taxpayer standing under section 526a tests the fundamental tenant that justice is to be accorded the rich and poor alike. (See, gen., *Griffin v. Illinois* (1956) 351 U.S. 12 [76 S.Ct. 585, 100 L.Ed. 891, 55 A.L.R.2d 1055].) The Court must determine whether section 526a applies broadly to all California taxpayers or is limited only to those wealthy enough or otherwise fortunate enough to own real property or a

business and pay taxes assessed thereon, to the exclusion of millions of poor and middle-class citizens who are not so wealthy or so fortunate and thus do not pay real property and business taxes, but do pay other forms of taxes assessed by state and local government, such as income, sales, gasoline and telephone taxes, as the Court of Appeal concluded in this case and has concluded in four previous cases decided over the past two decades.<sup>1</sup>

# ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. What type of taxes must a plaintiff pay, or be liable to pay, to have taxpayer standing under section 526a?
- 2. If section 526a is limited to payment, or liability for payment, of taxes assessed on owners of real property and retail businesses, and excludes other forms of tax payments, does the statute discriminate based on wealth in violation of due process and equal protection guarantees?

# SUMMARY OF ISSUES AND ARGUMENT

Petitioner is 38 years old and a single mother of a daughter, age 20. Petitioner is a citizen and a long-time California resident and taxpayer, currently residing in the County of Marin, were she has lived with her daughter for most of the past decade. Petitioner and her daughter share a modest apartment in the City of San Rafael. Petitioner is gainfully

See Wheatherford v. City of San Rafael (1st Dist., Div. 1, 2014) 226 Cal. App. 4th 460 (Wheatherford), depublished on grant of review; Torres v. City of Yorba Linda (4th Dist., Div. 3, 1993) 13 Cal. App. 4th 1035 (Torres); Cornelius v. Los Angeles County etc. Authority (2nd Dist., Div. 4, 1996) 49 Cal. App. 4th 1761 (Cornelius); Santa Barbara Co. Coalition Against Automobile Subsidies v. Santa Barbara Co. Assn. of Governments (2nd Dist., Div. 6, 2008) 167 Cal. App. 4th 1229 (Santa Barbara Co.); Reynolds v. City of Calistoga (1st Dist., Div. 5, 2014) 223 Cal. App. 4th 865 (Reynolds).

employed and works very hard to support herself and her daughter. Petitioner considers herself a member of the middle class, not poor, but when it comes to home ownership in California, poor and middle class citizens are effectively indistinguishable as almost all of them are on the outside looking in at the wealthy. Like almost everyone in her income bracket, petitioner does not own and cannot afford to buy real property in the County of Marin or surrounding Bay Area, one of the highest priced real estate markets and most expensive places to live in California—indeed, the entire United States. As a result, petitioner does not pay real property taxes. Petitioner also cannot afford to buy or start a business, so she does not pay taxes imposed on business owners. Petitioner does, however, pay state and federal income taxes. And as a consumer of goods and services, she also pays sales, gasoline and telephone taxes, and other taxes and fees routinely imposed by state and local governments.

Petitioner claims standing as a taxpayer under section 526a to challenge unlawful government action. The specific challenge made in this case concerns the legality and constitutionality of the vehicle impoundment practices of defendants and respondents City of San Rafael and County of Marin under Vehicle Code section 14602.6, authorizing the 30-day impoundment of a vehicle operated by a person without a valid driver's license. Petitioner has not suffered vehicle impoundment and therefore does not have direct standing to sue. This action may proceed only if petitioner has standing as a taxpayer under section 526a based on her payment of income, sales, gasoline and telephone taxes.

Like home ownership in California, the Court of Appeal has concluded that when it comes to taxpayer standing under section 526a, the poor and the middle class are on the outside looking in at the wealthy.

In five cases spaced intermittently over a 20-year period, culminating with the decision in this case in September 2014, the Court of Appeal has held that the language of section 526a, requiring payment or liability for payment of an "assessed" tax, means that taxpayer standing is available only to those plaintiffs who have paid taxes assessed *directly on them* as real property or business owners.

Payment of sales and gasoline taxes does not suffice under section 526a, the Court of Appeal has reasoned, because such taxes are technically "assessed" on business owners, not consumers such as petitioner, though the business owners customarily pass those taxes on to consumers who pay them at the time of purchase. State income tax *is* assessed directly on individual taxpayers, but the Court of Appeal has nonetheless concluded that payment of state income tax is inadequate to satisfy section 526a. This is so, the Court of Appeal has found, because income taxes purportedly bear too tangential a relationship to local government funding, and because recognition of taxpayer standing based on payment of state income tax would mean that virtually everyone would qualify for taxpayer standing, giving rise to an undue risk of haphazard litigation against local government agencies and officials by taxpayers throughout the state.

The Court of Appeal has reached these conclusions despite that such a construction of section 526a defeats, rather than furthers the purpose of the statute by denying, rather than granting taxpayer standing to "a large body of the citizenry to challenge governmental" (see *Van Atta, supra*, 27 Cal. 3d 424, 447), as nearly all of the poor and a large portion of the middle-class would be excluded from section 526a. The Court of Appeal has so limited section 526a notwithstanding that this Court has found taxpayer standing on the part of plaintiffs who plainly did <u>not</u> pay real

property or retail business taxes and whose basis for standing was necessarily payment of some other kind of taxes, such as incomes, sales, gasoline and telephone taxes (see, e.g., *Tobe v. City of Santa Ana* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1069 (*Tobe*) [plaintiffs were homeless]; *Arrieta v. Mahon* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 381 (*Arrieta*) [plaintiffs had recently been evicted from their apartment]); and despite the obvious concern that limiting taxpayer standing to real property and retail business owners, who are generally the most wealthy taxpayers, constitutes wealth-based discrimination in violation of due process and equal protection guarantees.

In this case the Court of Appeal concluded that limiting taxpayer standing to taxpayers who own real property does not constitute wealth-based discrimination because some rich people do not own real property, having elected to rent rather than buy, and some poor people do own real property as they were lucky enough to have purchased a home years ago when prices were lower or to have inherited real property when a family member died. The Court of Appeal did not suggest that petitioner is one of the few poor and middle-class taxpayers fortunate enough to own real property. She is not. Petitioner is just 38 years old and is therefore too young to have purchased a home decades ago when prices were lower (20 years ago, petitioner was 18 years old and pregnant with her daughter) and petitioner has not been so "fortunate" (an oxymoron in this context) to have had a family member die, leaving her real property as an inheritance.

The Court of Appeal's reasoning—which mirrors the arguments of respondents and others who support their position on taxpayer standing— is extremely offensive to petitioner and smacks of an elitist detachment from reality. It invokes Marie Antoinette, "Qu'ils mangent de la brioche"— If they are hungry, let them eat cake. Or as modified to apply here: If the poor

are hungry for taxpayer standing, let them buy real property or inherent it on the death of a family member who has.

"There is no equality in a law prohibiting both rich and poor from sleeping under the bridges of Paris." (*Gebert v. Patterson* (1<sup>st</sup> Dist., Div. 4, 1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 868, 876.) And there is no equality between rich and poor in a law affording taxpayer standing only to those taxpayers who own real property or a business and pay taxes assessed thereon. Section 526a provides a unique and broad right of access to the courts in circumstances were direct standing is lacking. Due process and equal protection principles prohibit denial of that right based on the size of the taxpayer's pocket-book. (See, gen., *Griffin v. Illinois, supra*, 351 U.S. 12; *Serrano, supra*, 5 Cal.3d 584.)

While the issue of taxpayer standing arises here in the context of a challenge to local vehicle seizure practices, the Court's resolution of the issue will apply to government action of *any* kind. In other words, if taxpayer standing is found wanting here, petitioner and all other taxpayers like her will be barred from invoking the taxpayer standing statute *no* matter what form of government action they seek to challenge.

The plight of the homeless, the rights of tenants, funding for schools and the proper scope and limits of police activities are just a few of the many important issues which commonly divide the citizenry along lines of wealth and home and business ownership, and which have been addressed in cases of taxpayer standing decided by this Court without any suggestion that section 526a is limited to payment of real property and business taxes. (See, e.g., *Tobe, supra,* 9 Cal.4th 1069 [challenge to municipal ordinance effectively making it a crime to be homeless]; *Arrieta v. Mahon, supra,* 31 Cal.3d 381 [challenge to local eviction practices]; *Serrano, supra,* 5 Cal.3d

584 [unequal funding for public schools]; White, supra, 13 Cal.3d 757 [unlawful warrantless on-campus surveillance by police].) If section 526a is construed to require payment of real property or business taxes, the nature of the government action which is subject to challenge under the statute would generally be limited to issues commonly advanced by the wealthy, to the exclusion of many important causes commonly championed by the poor and middle class. And, if the wealthy do take up causes for benefit of the poor and middle-class, they will generally do so with less vigor and passion, and far less empathy, than would be found in litigation prosecuted by poor and middle-class taxpayers who have personally witnessed and experienced the negative affects of the challenged government action.

Our justice system will suffer immensely if we deny taxpayer standing to hard-working, citizen resident <u>taxpayers</u> like petitioner who are willing to stand up in court against the government and demand its compliance with the law, but are not wealthy enough or otherwise fortunate enough to own real property or a business. The language and intent of section 526a dictates a contrary result, as do fundamental principles of due process and equal protection. The Court of Appeal erred in concluding otherwise. This Court should rectify that error and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal.

# PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief on January 9, 2013. (CT 1-12.) The complaint challenges respondents' enforcement of the state's vehicle impound statute, Vehicle Code section 14602.6.<sup>2</sup> Petitioner is validly licensed to drive and has not suffered the

The particulars of petitioners' substantive claims need not be explored

impoundment of a vehicle. She claims standing as a taxpayer under section 526a. Petitioner alleges in her complaint that "[t]he taxes [she has] paid ...include sales tax, gasoline tax, and water and sewage fees, and *other taxes*, charges and fees *routinely imposed by municipalities, counties and the state*<sup>3</sup>, with the exception of property taxes" which she does not pay because she "does not own and cannot afford to buy real property in California[.]" (CT 1-2, italics added.)

Recognizing that petitioner's claim of taxpayer standing was barred in the trial court by the Court of Appeal decisions in *Torres, supra,* 13 Cal.App.4th 1035, and *Cornelius, supra,* 49 Cal.App.4th 1761, the parties stipulated to entry of a judgment of dismissal which reserved petitioner's right of appeal. (See *Norgart v. Upjohn Co.* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 383, 399-402 [authorizing an appeal of a stipulated judgment which is designed to allow a party to challenge adverse appellate authority which is fatal to their position in the trial court].) Judgment was entered on April 22, 2013. (CT 13-15.) Petitioner timely filed a Notice of Appeal on June 11, 2013. (CT 21.)

On appeal, petitioner argued that *Torres* and *Cornelius* were wrongly reasoned and decided and that section 526a should be interpreted to provide

because they are not germane to the threshold issue of taxpayer standing. For a discussion and assessment of identical claims in a parallel case prosecuted by petitioner's counsel at bar, see *Thompson v. City of Petaluma Police Department*, – Cal.App.4th –, A137981 [unpub. opn. issued Oct. 10, 2014; publication order issued Nov. 4, 2014; petition for review to be filed on finality of the decision in the Court of Appeal] (*Thompson*).

The "other taxes" paid by petitioner include income and telephone taxes. While it would have been better for petitioner to have expressly alleged payment of those taxes, such is necessarily included within her allegation of payment of "other taxes routinely imposed[.]"

taxpayer standing to a plaintiff who has paid *any* type of tax assessed by state or local government, including income, sales and gasoline taxes, as well as real property taxes. Petitioner also claimed that limiting section 526a to payment of real property taxes would constitute wealth-based discrimination in violation of due process and equal protection guarantees.

Respondents countered each of petitioner's arguments. They also added payment of retail business taxes to the mix for the first time, citing Santa Barbara Co., supra, 167 Cal.App.4th 1229. In Santa Barbara Co., the Second District Court of Appeal concluded that the plaintiff in that case had taxpayer standing under section 526a because the plaintiff had paid sales taxes assessed on its sale of T-shirts. The appellate court reasoned that a business owners who has paid sales tax satisfies the requirements of section 526a because sale tax is "assessed" directly on the plaintiff as retailer and business owner; whereas sales taxes paid by consumers do not satisfy section 526a because such taxes are technically not "assessed" on the consumer, though as practical matter retailers simply pass the tax on to consumers who pay it at the time of purchase. (167 Cal.App.4th at p. 1236, citing Cornelius and Torres with approval.) Respondents thus argued in this case that taxpayer standing is satisfied by payment of either real property or business taxes; and petitioner lacks taxpayer standing because she has not paid either of those taxes.

In reply, petitioner reiterated her original arguments and added that the she does not own and cannot afford to start her own business.

The First District Court of Appeal, Division One, issued a published opinion on May 22, 2014, affirming the judgment of dismissal based on plaintiff's lack of taxpayer standing, *Wheatherford, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th 460. The Court of Appeal elected to follow *Torres, Cornelius*, and *Santa* 

Barbara Co. and accordingly found that section 526 requires proof of payment of either real property or business taxes; payment of income, sales, gasoline and other taxes does not suffice. The Court of Appeal acknowledged that this Court has found taxpayer standing on the part of plaintiffs who plainly had not paid real property or business taxes, and whose taxpayer standing was necessarily based on payment of income, sales, gasoline or telephone taxes, such as Tobe, supra, 9 Cal.4th 1069, 1081-1086, involving two homeless plaintiffs, and Arrieta v. Mahon, supra, 31 Cal.3d 381, brought by several former renters who had been evicted from their apartments, and that this Court and the Court of Appeal have issued many dozens of other decisions which granted taxpayer standing to the plaintiff, or presumed it existed, without consideration of the specific type of taxes paid. The Court of Appeal said those decisions are not precedent on the point at issue here because in those cases this Court did not expressly consider and decide the question of what type of taxes qualify for taxpayer standing under section 526a.

The Court of Appeal rejected petitioner's claim that limiting taxpayer standing to payment of real property and business taxes would constitute wealth-based discrimination in violation of due process and equal protection guarantees. The appellate court said, in sum, that petitioner's "premise is flawed" because there are some rich people who do not own homes as they elect to rent rather than buy, and there are some poor people who do own homes because they were fortunate enough to buy real property decades ago when home prices were lower or they inherited real property on the death of a family member; and therefore a real property and business tax requirement does not limit standing to a select sub-group of the most wealthy Californians. The appellate court also said that lack of home

ownership has never been identified as a suspect class, so the perceived statutory limitation is subject to the rational basis test. A rational basis exists for limiting section 526a to real property and business taxpayers, the Court of Appeal found, because payment of such taxes vest the taxpayer with"a sufficiently personal interest in the illegal expenditure of funds by county officials to become dedicated adversaries." (*Blair, supra*, 5 Cal.3d at p. 270.)<sup>4</sup>

In closing, the Court of Appeal reasoned that recognition of petitioner's taxpayer standing based on payment of income, sales and gasoline taxes was unnecessary because respondents' vehicle impoundment practices may be challenged by aggrieved vehicle owners with direct standing to sue and by other taxpayers who have paid real property and business taxes and thus have standing under section 526a. Having said that, however, the Court of Appeal passingly acknowledged in its final footnote that the established rule applies to *any* challenge to government action, not simply vehicle impoundment cases (*Wheatherford, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th 460 at fn. 7), and therefore *all* taxpayers who do not pay real property or business taxes are excluded from section 526a regardless of whether or not their substantive claims are likely to be championed by someone else who does have standing.

Petitioner timely filed a petition for rehearing or modification of the

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