No. S219567

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHERRITY WHEATHERFORD,

SUPREME COURT FILED

Plaintiff/Appellant/Petitioner,

FEB 2 0 2015

VS.

CITY OF SAN RAFAEL, et al.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Defendants/Respondents.

Λ	(O)	ر مسال م	ÆI.) TIÉ	L
\sim		VCI	R	CLE	ŀ

On Review of the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, First District, Division One, *Wheatherford v. City of San Rafael* (May 22, 2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 460 [Petition for Rehearing Denied June 16, 2012]

Appellate Case No. A138949

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

Additionally, Petitioner's focus on which agency— the City of San Rafael or the state – purportedly levied a particular sales tax is misplaced. The initial inquiry when it comes to payment of a sales tax is whether the tax was actually assessed against the individual claiming taxpayer standing status. Only then might it become relevant which agency was supposedly doing the assessing or to what use the funds may have ultimately been put. Because Petitioner has not claimed to be a business owner subject to a retail sales tax, it must be assumed that no sales tax has ever been levied against her. Her alleged 'payment' of a sales tax, regardless of who or what imposed the tax, is not therefore sufficient to trigger 526a's standing provision.

iii. Gasoline Tax

Petitioner advances a similar argument regarding gasoline taxes, reasoning that portions of such taxes "invariably wind up in the City and County's budgets and are used in part for law enforcement, be it by direct allocation, trickle-down budgeting, state and federal grants funded by such taxes, or state and local bonds paid for with such taxes." (Petitioner's Opening Brief, p. 43.) Again, however, Petitioner misses the main point: a government assesses gas taxes on the retailer, not the consumer, of gasoline. (See Rev. and Tax. Code, §§ 7361 ["For the privilege of storing, for the purpose of removal, sale, or use, every distributor owning motor vehicle fuel... shall pay a tax..."] and 8733 ["The tax required to be collected by the vendor constitutes a debt owed by the vendor to this

State"].) Any invented "nexus" (Petitioner's Opening Brief, p. 43) between a gasoline tax paid out to the state and some potential benefit later reaped by a local government is irrelevant, especially when it is not in fact Petitioner who paid the gasoline tax in the first instance. And because Petitioner has not claimed to be a distributor subject to a gasoline tax, it must be assumed that no gasoline tax has ever been levied against her. Her alleged 'payment' of such taxes, regardless of who or what imposed the tax, is also therefore insufficient to trigger 526a's standing provision.

iv. Income Tax

For the Court's convenience, the County will address the issue of income tax payments generally, despite the fact that Petitioner failed to raise the issue in the trial court, thereby waiving her right to specific consideration of the issue on appeal. California courts "ignore arguments, authority, and facts not presented and litigated in the trial court. Generally, issues raised for the first time on appeal which were not litigated in the trial court are waived." (*Bank of America, N.A. v. Roberts* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 1386, 1399.) Additionally, Petitioner has neglected to specify in what city or county she supposedly works and is taxed. (*Lopez v. Southern Cal. Rapid Transit Dist.* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 780, 795 ["[T]o state a cause of action against a public entity, every fact material to the existence of its statutory liability must be pleaded with particularity"].) Even overlooking these procedural shortcomings, her purported payment of income taxes would still fail to afford her section 526a taxpayer standing against the County for the following reasons.

First, the County does not impose or collect an income tax on its own behalf. California law dictates that "no [] county [] shall levy or collect or cause to be levied or collected any tax upon the income, or any part thereof, of any person, resident or nonresident." (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 17041.5.) Petitioner cannot move forward with a taxpayer suit against the

County under the guise of paying income taxes "therein" when the County is not the entity either imposing or receiving the tax. (Code Civ. Proc., § 526a.) No court has ever held payment of a state-imposed tax sufficient to challenge the policies of a local agency, because to do so would effectively remove all standing requirements for plaintiffs suing local public entities.

Second, by no stretch of the imagination does Petitioner meet the test developed by the Second District Court of Appeal in Cornelius, supra, 49 Cal.App.4th 1761, and discussed at length by Petitioner, to determine if a plaintiff's payment of state income taxes is sufficient to confer taxpayer standing in a lawsuit brought against a county agency. In Cornelius, the plaintiff alleged that the affirmative action program implemented by a county transportation authority an authority that the plaintiff termed the "functional equivalent" of a state agency to award contracts violated his constitutional rights. (Id. at 1764, 1775.) The court looked at three factors to conclude that plaintiff lacked taxpayer standing as against the county transportation authority. First, the court looked to the tangential relationship between the taxes paid and the policy being contested. (Id. at 1778.) The court stressed the fact that state income taxes constituted only a "partial and indirect source of funding for the [county transportation] authority]." (Ibid., original italics.) Second, the court looked to the ramifications of finding taxpayer standing on the basis requested by plaintiff.

"If we were to conclude that the mere payment of state income taxes conferred standing, then any state implemented program which to any degree is directly or indirectly financed by the state income tax could be subject to a legal challenge by any resident in any of our state's 58 counties as long as the resident pays state income taxes. We do not believe it would be sound public policy to permit the haphazard initiation of lawsuits against local public agencies based only on the payment of state

income taxes." (*Id.* at 1778-1779.) Third, the court looked to the underlying policy behind conferring taxpayer standing under section 526a. "Our Supreme Court has stated that while standing under that section is to be construed liberally, the reason to do so is to allow a challenge to governmental action which would otherwise go unchallenged because of the stricter requirement of standing imposed by case law." (*Id.* at 1779.)

As a threshold matter, the test laid out in *Cornelius* does not apply to the issues presently before this Court for at least two reasons. First, as already noted, the record on appeal is missing any factual allegation that Petitioner ever paid income tax. Second, Petitioner makes no allegation, and could not in good faith make an allegation that the County is acting as the 'functional equivalent' of a state agency, such that payment of state income tax would even arguably open the County up to a taxpayer lawsuit.

Even if the *Cornelius* test did apply, however, Petitioner would fail to meet each of the three factors. First, there's no alleged relationship between any state income paid and the County's vehicle impoundment policy. Second, if Petitioner's payment of state income taxes was enough to confer section 526a standing, any plaintiff who paid state income tax within California would be free to not only challenge state policies and procedures as a taxpayer, but also those of every county, city, and other municipality that had ever received even the most remote state funding. And third, a decision by this Court not to grant Petitioner taxpayer standing would not result in the California Vehicle Code going unchallenged. Any number of parties could readily come forward to properly challenge the law. At a bare minimum, all individuals who have paid assessed taxes directly to the County of Marin within the past year, as well as individuals who have suffered an actual injury as a result of the County's enforcement of the Code, could properly assert standing to challenge the law.

		,,	 		
				·	

Finally, Petitioner assures the Court that, because she is a County resident, she is not therefore a "mere interloper who visited the City and County and paid a nominal tax of some kind and now seeks to litigate without personal interest in local affairs." (Petitioner's Opening Brief, p. 50.) But this assurance is irrelevant, because as Petitioner repeatedly points out, residence within the County is not a prerequisite to Petitioner's ability to pursue a section 526a taxpayer against the County action under *Irwin* and its progeny.

v. Telephone tax

As with income tax payments, Petitioner's arguments regarding payment of telephone taxes cannot be entertained upon a record without any allegation that Petitioner has ever paid such taxes. "To allow mixed questions of law and fact to be raised on appeal for the first time would disrupt the orderly administration of justice." (*Harriman v. Tetik* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 805, 810.) Further, Petitioner provides not a single citation, either in the form of statutory or case law, tending to support her assertion that the County assesses telephone taxes "directly on consumers." (Petitioner's Opening Brief, p. 53.) In fact, the County does not.

H. REQUIRING THAT PLAINTIFF PAY AN ASSESSED TAX BEFORE ALLOWING TAXPAYER STANDING DOES NOT VIOLATE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION GUARANTEES

A statute should be construed, whenever possible, so as to preserve its constitutionality. (*Department of Corrections v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 197, 207.) Petitioner, however, takes the opposite tack, incorrectly claiming that the Court of Appeal's construction of section 526a constitutes unconstitutional wealth-based discrimination that should be subjected to the most stringent standard of judicial review. The Court of Appeal's interpretation of section 526a is neither unconstitutional, nor the proper object of strict scrutiny. It is not

unconstitutional because it does not discriminate on the basis of wealth. Even if it did, such discrimination is not precluded by the due process or equal protection clauses. And it is not the proper subject of strict scrutiny because that standard of review is employed only "in cases involving suspect classifications or touching on fundamental interests." (*Serrano I*, *supra*, Cal.3d at 597.) This is not such a case.

a. Section 526a Is Not a Wealth-Based Classification

Petitioner offers no persuasive support for her claim that the issue of whether an individual has been assessed with a tax is a wealth-based classification. Real property ownership or, for that matter, ownership and operation of a business or gasoline station is ultimately a lifestyle choice, not a wealth issue. Many of the wealthier individuals within this state prefer to rent homes while some less wealthy people decide to invest a substantial portion of their capital into real property. Many of the state's more affluent citizens work for large corporations, while some of the less financially fortunate struggle to scrape by while operating their own momand-pop shops. The distinction drawn in section 526a is not, therefore, based on wealth, but rather upon classes of persons who are, for a wide range of reasons, subjected to a variety of very distinct tax burdens and who thus defy classification under customary equal protection terms. And, while Respondent readily acknowledges that there undoubtedly exist many citizens who would prefer to own property or open their own businesses if only they had the financial means to do so, it remains a fact that "the Constitution does not provide judicial remedies for every social and economic ill." (Lindsey v. Normet (1972) 405 U.S. 56, 74.) Equal protection "quarantees equal laws, not equal results." (Personnel Administrator of Mass. v. Feeney (1979) 442 U.S. 256, 273.)

Petitioner nevertheless cites to a string of cases involving unconstitutional wealth-based discriminations, which she claims support

her argument that section 526a involves the same. These cases, however, are all distinguishable from the present situation. Boddie v. Connecticut (1971) 401 U.S. 371 (Boddie), involved women who sought to obtain divorces but were barred from doing so by their inability to pay uniformly required court fees and costs. These fees and costs were imposed as a precondition to the plaintiffs' ability to use the court system, to which they would have otherwise indisputably been entitled access. The Court in that case held that "the State's refusal to admit... appellants to its courts, the sole means for obtaining a divorce, must be regarded as the equivalent of denying them an opportunity to be heard upon their claimed right to a dissolution of their marriages, and, in the absence of a sufficient countervailing justification for the State's action, a denial of due process." (Id. at p. 787; see also Earls v. Sup. Ct. (1978) 6 Cal.3d 109.) Unlike in Boddie, however, Petitioner is not barred from accessing the court system due to her inability to pay a uniformly assessed fee, but rather because she lacks standing. Boddie did not hold, and no court has ever held, that due process requires allowing plaintiffs like Petitioner, who fundamentally lack standing to initiate a lawsuit, to nevertheless access the courts for purposes of litigation.

Harper v. Virginia State Bd. of Elections (1966) 383 U.S. 663, struck down poll taxes as unconstitutional violations of the equal protection. The Court there reasoned that "[v]oter qualifications have no relation to wealth nor to paying or not paying [a poll tax] or any other tax" and "[t]o introduce wealth or payment of a fee as a measure of a voter's qualifications is to introduce a capricious or irrelevant factor." (Id. at 666, 668.) Again, however, section 526a does not impose a uniform fee on individuals before allowing them to access a fundamental right. The Legislature's requirement that, prior to bringing a taxpayer lawsuit, an individual must

actually pay an assessed tax against the entity that it seeks to sue, is neither capricious nor irrelevant.

Griffin v. Illinois (1966) 351 U.S. 12, involved defendants who could not afford to pay for the transcripts and court records necessary to prosecute an appeal. Douglas v. California (1963) 372 U.S. 353, held that a state may not deny an indigent criminal defendant the assistance of counsel on appeal. Again, such decisions shed no light on Petitioner's situation, which does not involve the state's wholesale denial of access to the justice system for an identifiable class of plaintiffs who cannot not afford to pay a uniform fee.

Finally, *Gebert v. Patterson* (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 868 (*Gebert*), an appellate court decision, found unconstitutional a local regulation that required the proponent of a ballot argument to pay a fee before the argument would be published in the voter's handbook. *Gebert* relied in part on *Knoll v. Davidson* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 335 (*Knoll*), where this Court held that requiring the payment of a filing fee as a condition to becoming a candidate, without providing a reasonable alternative means of access to the ballot, was similarly impermissible. The Court in *Knoll* identified the "essential error" in all systems requiring prepaid ballot fees to be the fact that such systems relied "solely and absolutely upon the payment of a fee, without providing any alternative procedures for qualifying as a candidate." (*Id.* at 248.) Again, this is not Petitioner's situation.

In all of these cases, "[t]he individuals, or groups of individuals, who constituted the class discriminated against... share[] two distinguishing characteristics [that Petitioner lacks]: because of their impecunity they were completely unable to pay for some desired benefit, and as a consequence, they sustained an absolute deprivation of a meaningful opportunity to enjoy that benefit." (San Antonio Independent School Dist. v. Rodriguez (1973) 411 U.S. 1, 20 (San Antonio).) Petitioner, however,

has provided "no definitive description of the classifying facts or delineation of the disfavored class" that she now urges this Court to protect, making it fundamentally impossible to determine whether or not such a 'class' would, because of their purported impecunity, be completely unable to pay a section 526a assessed tax. (*Id.* at 19.) Further, Petitioner offers no description of how much such a tax might actually cost.

Section 526a does not condition access to the courtroom on the payment of a uniform fee and does not, for the reasons discussed above, discriminate on the basis of wealth. The wealthiest individuals in the country may seek to bring section 526a taxpayer lawsuits against the cities and counties of California, but, without having had a tax assessed upon them by such cities and counties, these suits will be summarily dismissed for lack of standing. And finally, Petitioner does have an alternative procedure by which to access the court system to bring her lawsuit; non-taxpayer standing. (Code Civ. Proc., § 367 ["Every action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest, except as otherwise provided by statute."].) As such, the cases relied upon by Petitioner in support of her position that section 526a involves unconstitutional wealth-based classifications are simply not persuasive.

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